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PART |
INTRODUCTION

In February 1987, the Nekaneet First Nation submitted a specific claim to the Minister of Indian
Affairsand Northern Devel opment" seeking compensation under Treaty 4 for outstanding provisions
of agricultural benefits, programsand services, annual paymentsto band members, and damagesfor
faillureto provide aresave at the timeof the Treaty’ ssigning in 1874. As of 1996, theFirst Nation
had not received any indication from Canada whether the claim woul d be accepted for negotiation.
On October 23, 1998, after the First Nation had entered the Commission’ sinquiry process, Canada
offered to accept the Nekaneet's claim for negotiation of a settlement. As stated in Canada's
acceptance letter, the Nekaneet claim is “the first agricultural benefits clam Canada has ever
accepted under Treaty No. 4 and is the first historical claim for agricultural benefits accepted by
Canada.”?

TheFirst Nation requested an inquiry into the claim by thelndian Claims Commission (the
Commission) in August 1996.% Given that the Commission’s mandate is to inquire into rejected
claims and given that Canada had not responded to the claim, counsel for Nekaneet First Nation
requested an advance determination as to whether Canada would challenge the mandate of the
Commission to hear the matter.* A planning conference was held on November 21, 1996, at which
time counsel for the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development (DIAND) did raise
a preliminary mandate challenge® The department stated that the Nekaneet First Nation claim,

1 Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, to Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal
Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, August 30, 1996, attaching both a Band Council Resolution approved by Chief
and Council on August 29, 1996, and a copy of the original Claim Submission to the Minister of Indian Affairs and
Northern Development by the N ekaneet B and No. 160A, dated February 16, 1987 (hereinafter 1987 Nekaneet Claim
Submission) (reproduced as Appendix A).

2 Warren Johnston, Assistant Deputy M inister, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, October 23, 1998 (A ppendix B).

s Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, to Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal
Counsel, Indian Claims Commisson, August 30, 1996.

4 Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, to Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal
Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, November 12, 1996. See below for more information on Planning
Conferences.

5 Indian Claims Commisdon, Planning Conference, Nekaneet First Nation, Treaty Entitlement for
Benefits Summary, Regina, November 21, 1996.
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despite the fact it was submitted ten years earlier, remaned under review by the Spedfic Claims
Branch and that the claim had not been rejected by DIAND.

The First Nation took the position that DIAND’ s failure to respond to the claim for nearly
10 yearswastantamount to arejectionof theclaim.® DIAND theninformed the partiesthat thisclaim
was now a priority and that DIAND would provide a response by May 1997. The First Nation
consented to this time frame. Further, the Commission agreed, at the First Nation’s request and
DIAND’ sconsent, to act asafacilitator on the claim.” In the view of the Commission, it isthe very
fact that the First Nation requested a Commission inquiry that pushed this claim forward.

Subsequently, correspondence was exchanged among the parties with aview to facilitating
DIAND’ sreview of theclaim.? On July 25, 1997, the Commission schedul ed aconferencecall which
dealt with the status of the review.® DIAND informed the parties that it would provide a written
response to the claim on August 1, 1997, and that the parties would meet on October 6, 1997, to
discuss the response with members of the First Nation and their counsel.

On August 1, 1997, DIAND provided awritten summary of the preliminary federal position

on the claim of the Nekaneet First Nation claim on a“without prgudice” basis* The preliminary

6 Indian Claims Commisdson, Planning Conference, Nekaneet First Nation, Treaty Entitlement for

Benefits, Summary, Regina, November 21, 1996. See also | CC Report on the Inquiry into theclaim of the Mikisew
Cree First Nation in (1998) 6 ICCP 183 for a discussion of constructive rejection.

7 Indian Claims Commisdgon, Planning Conference, Nekaneet First Nation, Treaty Entitlement for
Benefits Summary, Regina, November 21, 1996.

8 Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legd Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Belinda Caole, DIAND,
January 24, 1997; Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Cynthia Shipton-
Mitchell, Acting Senior Counsel, Specific Claims, DIAND, M arch, 3, 1997; Cynthia Shipton-Mitchell, Acting
Senior Counsel, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims
Commission, March 6, 1997; Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Cynthia
Shipton-Mitchell, Acting Senior Counsel, Specific Claims, DIAND, May 6, 1997; Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal
Counsel, Indian ClaimsCommission, to Cynthia Shipton-Mitchell, Acting Senior Counsel, Specific Claims, DIAND,
June 6, 1997; Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to N ekaneet First Nation, to K athleen Lickers, Associate L egal Counsel,
Indian Claims Commission, June 6, 1997; Kathleen L ickers, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to
Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, and Perry Robinson, Policy Directorate, Specific Claims
Branch, DIAND, June 17, 1997.

° Kathleen Lickers, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Thomas Waller, QC,
Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, and Jocelyn Stoate, Specific Claims B ranch, DIAND, July 25, 1997.

10 Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997.
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position was to reject the claim, except for the entitlements to receive farming and agricultural
implements, subject to additional research on the matter.

In response, the First Nation requested a letter of support from the Commission for its
application to DIAND’s Research Funding Division. To maintain its neutrality, the Commission
declined to provide such support.* It did, however, offer to provide the Research Funding Division
with abrief summary of the claim and its status at the Commission.*

On November 4, 1997, the Commission advised DIAND that the Nekaneet First Nation had
entered the Commission’ sinquiry processand that additional researchwasthereforerequired.”® The
research, including an analysis of the clam, was provided by DIAND on March 27, 1998. The
Commission advised the parties of the status of the claim throughout the year.** On October 23,
1998, Canadaoffered to acoept the First Nation’ s claim for negotiation of a settlement, with respect
toitsclamto agricultural benefitsunder Treaty 4; Canadaal so offered to negotiate ammunition and
twine benefits'®

This report sets out the background to the First Nation’s claim and is based entirely on the
documentsthe First Nation provided tothe Commission, aswd| asthe March 1998 Specific Claims

Branch Report.'” In view of Canada' s decision to accept the claim for negotiation of a settlement,

u Seetal Sunga, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Thomas Waller, QC,

Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, September 15, 1997.

12 Seetal Sunga, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Thomas Waller, QC,
Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, September 15, 1997.

B Seetal Sunga, Associate Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to Sharman Glynn, Chief,
Research Funding Division, DIAND, November 4, 1997.

14 Cover letter, Barb Frizell-Bear, Senior Policy Advisor, Policy and Research, Specific Claims
Branch, to Ralph Keesickquayash, Associate Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, March 27, 1998, attaching
Specific Claims Branch, T.M. Homik, Analysis of the Claim of the Nekaneet First Nation Regarding Agricultural
Benefits, January 31, 1998 (hereinafter Specific Claims Branch Report).

1 Ral ph Keesckquayash, Associate Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to ThomasWaller, QC,
Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, May 7, 1998; Ron Maurice, Commission Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, to
Thomas Waller, QC, Counsel to Nekaneet First Nation, and Jocelyn Stoate, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, May
7, 1998.

16 Warren Johnson, Assistant Deputy M inister, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, October 23, 1998 (Appendix B).

e See below, discusson on page 15.
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no further steps have been taken by the Commission to inquire into the claim, and we make no
findings of fact. Thisreport containsabrief summary of the claim and isintended only to informthe

public about the nature of the issues involved.

MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION
The Commission was estaldished in 1991 to assist First Nations and Canadain the negotiation and
fair resolution of specific claims. The Commission is empowered to inquire into and report on

whether or not Canada properly rejected a spedfic claim:

AND WE DO HEREBY advise that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada’'s
Specific Claims Policy published in 1982 and subsequent formal amendments or
additions asannounced by the Minister of Indian Affairsand Northern Devel opment
(hereinafter “the Minister”), by considering only those matters at issue when the
dispute was initially submitted to the Commission, inquire into and report on:

a) whether a claimant has avalid claim for negotiation under the Policy where
that claim has already been rejected by the Minister; and

b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a settlement, wherea
claimant disagrees with the Minister's determination of the applicable
criteria.’®

If the Commission had completed the inquiry into the Nekaneet First Nation's claim, the
Commissionerswould have eval uated that claim based on Canada’ s Specific ClaimsPolicy. DIAND

has explained the policy in a booklet entitled Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy —

Specific Claims.™ In particular, the booklet states that, when consdering specific claims:

The government’ s policy on specific claimsisthat it will recognize claimsby Indian
bands which disclose an outstanding “lawful obligation,” i.e., an obligation derived
from the law on the part of the federal governmert.

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances:

i) Thenon-fulfillment of atreaty or agreement between Indians and the Crown.

18 Commission issued September 1, 1992, pursuant to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27,

1992, amending the Commission issued to Chief Commissioner Harry S. LaForme on A ugust 12, 1991, pursuant to
Order in Council PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991; reprinted in (1994) | ICCP xv.

10 DIAND, Outganding Business A Native Claims Policy — Spedcific Claims (Ottawa: Minister of
Supply and Services, 1982), 20; reprinted in (1994) | ICCP 171-85 (hereafter Outstanding Business).
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i) A breach of an obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes
pertaining to Indians and the regulations thereunder.

iii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian
funds or other assts.

V) Anillegal disposition of Indian land.

The policy also addresses the following types of claims, which fall under the heading “Beyond
Lawful Obligation”:

) Failure to provide compensation for reserve lands taken or damaged by the
federd government or any of itsagencies under authority.

i) Fraud in connection with theacquisition or disposition of Indian reserveland
by employees or agents of the federal government, in cases where the fraud
can be clearly demonstrated.

The Commission has the authority to review thoroughly, with both the claimant and the
government, the historical and legal bases for the claim and the reasons for its rejection .The
Inquiries Act givesthe Commission wide powersto conduct such an inquiry, to gather information,
and even to subpoena evidenceif necessary. If, at the end of an inquiry, the Commission concludes
that the facts and law support a finding that Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to the
clamant First Nation, it may recommend to the Minister of Indian Affars and Northern

Development that the claim be accepted for negotiation.

THE CLAIMS PROCESS

Asoutlined in Outstanding Business, aFirst Nation may submit itsspecific claim to the Minister of
Indian Affairs, who acts on behalf of the Government of Canada. The claimant First Nation begins
the process by submitting a clear and concise statement of claim, along with comprehensive
historical and factual background on which the claim is based. The claim isreferred to DIAND’s
Specific Claims Branch, which usually conducts its own confirming research into a claim, makes
clam-related research findings in its possession available to the claimants, and consults with them

at each stageof the review process.

2 Outstanding Business, 20; reprinted in (1994) 1 ICCP 179-80.
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Once all the necessary information has been gathered, the facts and documents will be
referred to the Department of Justice for advice on the federal government’s lawful obligation.
Generd ly, if the Department of Justice finds that the claim discloses an outstanding lawful
obligation, the First Nation isso advised, and the Specific Claims Branch will dffer to enter into

compensation negotiations.

The Commission’s Planning Confer ences

In view of the Commissioners’ broad authority to “adopt such methods . . . as they may consider
expedient for the conduct of theinquiry,” they have placed grea emphasison the need for flexibility
and informality and have encouraged the parties to be involved as much as is practicable in the
planning and conduct of theinquiry. Tothisend, the Commission devel oped the planning conference
asaforuminwhich representatives of the First Nation and Canadameet to discussand resolveissues
in a cooperative manner.

Planning conferences have routinely been arranged and chaired by the Commission to plan
jointly the inquiry process. Briefing material is prepared by the Commission and sent to the parties
in advance of the planning conference so as to facilitate an informed discussion of the issues. The
main objectives of the planning conference are to identify and explore the relevant historical and
legal issues; to identify which historical documents the parties intend to rely on; to determine
whether the parties intend to call elders, community members, or experts as witnesses; and to set
timeframesfor the remaining stages of theinquiry, inthe event that the parties are unableto resolve
themattersin dispute. Thefirst planningconference dso all owsthe parties an opportunityto discuss
whether there are any preliminary issues with regard to the scope of the issues or the mandate of the
Commission.

Depending on the nature and compl exity of the issues, there may be more than one planning
conference. The parties are given an opportunity, often for the first time, to discussthe claim face
to face. The parties themselves are able to review their position in the light of new or previously
unrevealed facts and the constantly evolving law. Even if the planning conferences do not lead to
aresolution of the claim andaformal inquiry process isnecessary, they assist in clarifyingissuesand

help make the inquiry more effective.



PART I

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

BACKGROUND TO THE FIRST NATION'SCLAIM

As this claim was accepted before an inquiry was complete, the Commission makes no finding of
fact. This background summarizes documents provided to the Commission by the First Nation and
Canada

TheNekaneet First Nationislocated in southwestern Saskatchewan. On September 15, 1874,
Treaty 4 was entered into between Canada and First Nationsin the area. At that time, “Front Man”
or “Foremost Man” (the English name for “Ne-can-ete”’) was the leader of what became known &s
the Nekaneet Band. Thisclaim raises three questions of historical fact: whether Foremost Man and
his followers were separate or a part of the Kahkewistahaw Band; whether they recaved treaty
entitlementsincluding reserve land; and whether they took up agriculture thereby entitling them to
agricultural benefits under Treaty 4.

The Nekaneet First Nation takes the position that, at the time Treaty 4 was signed by Chief
Kahkewistahaw at Fort Qu’ Appelle, Foremost Man was the leader of a separate band and was not
at Fort Qu’'Appelle at the time of the treaty’s signing but was instead living in the area around
CypressHills* “Ne-can-ete,” however, was noted on the 1875 and 1876 Treaty 4 paylists for the
Kahkewistahaw Band.?

Treaty 4 includes the following obligations, which were underteken by Canada:®

Assoon aspossible after the execution of thistreaty Her Majesty shall causeacensus
to be taken of all the Indians inhabiting the tract hereinbefore described, and shall,
next year, and annually afterwardsfor ever, causeto bepaid in cashat some suitable

2 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 1.

2 The historical context for the signing of T reaty 4 has been dealt with by the Commission in its
March 1996 Report into the Treaty Land Entitlement Claim of the Kawacatoose First Nation, and in the November
1996 report into the K ahkewistahaw treaty land entitlement. The Kahkew istahaw report has a more complete
description of Foremost Man and his relationship to the Kahkewistahaw Band.

= “The Qu'Appelle Treaty, Number Four,” September 15, 1874, reprinted in A . Morris, The Treaties
of Canada with the Indians (1880; reprint, Toronto: Coles, 1979), 330-35, cited in Specific Claims B ranch Report,
attached doc. 1 [Note: The Specific Claims Branch Report contains numbered documents, which are attached to the
report and/or included in the Appendix.]
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season to be duly notified to the Indians, and at aplace or placesto be appointed for
that purpose, within the territory ceded, each Chief twenty-five dollars; each
Headman not exceeding four to aband, fifteen dollars; and to every other Indian man,
woman and child, five dollars per head; such payment to be made to the heads of
families for those belongng thereto, unless for some special reason it be found
objectionable.

Her Mg esty also agrees that each Chief and each Headman, not to exceed
four in each band, once in every three years during the term of their offices shall
receiveasuitable suit of clothing, and that yearly and every year Shewill causetobe
distributed among the different bands included in the limits of this treaty powder,
shot, ball and twine, in all to the value of seven hundred and fifty dollars; and each
Chief shall receive hereafter, in recognition of the dosing of the treaty, a suiteble
flag.

It is further agreed between Her Majesty and the said Indians that the
following articles shall be supplied to any band thereof who are now actually
cultivating the soil, or who shdl hereafter setle on their reserves and commence to
break up the land, that is to say: two hoes, one spade, one scythe and one axe for
every family soactudly cultivati ng, and enough seed whegt, barley, oatsand potatoes
to plant such land asthey have broken up; aso one plough and two harrowsfor every
ten families so cultivating as aforesaid, and also to each Chief for the use of hisband
as aforesaid, one yoke of oxen, one bull, four cows, a chest of ordinary carpenter's
tools, five hand saws, five augers, one cross-cut saw, one pit-saw, the necessary files
and one grindstone, dl the aforesaid articles to be given, once for al, for the
encouragement of the practice of agriculture amongthe Indians.

In short, there wasa provision for entitlementsto cash payments, clothing, ammunition, and twine,
aswell asto “cows and plows.”

Annuity payments were provided to Foremost Man andhisfollowersunde Treaty 4in 1881
and 1882 at Fort Walsh.** In 1882, Canada established a policy whereby only those bands that | eft
the CypressHillsand settled on reserves further north would receivetheir treaty benefits.? Foremost

Man and hisfollowersrefused to relocatenorth. Then and now, the Nekaneet First Nation takesthe

s DIAND file 675/30-14-15-160A; A.E. St. Louis, “ Straggling Indiansof Cypress Hills and
Vicinity,” nd [c. 1945] (Specific Claims Branch Report, A ppendix A, doc. 191). See also 1987 N ekaneet Claim
Submission, p. 3.

= DIAND file 675/30-14-15-16 0A. A.E. St. Louis, “Straggling Indiansof Cypress Hills and
Vicinity,” nd [c. 1945] (Specific Claims Branch Report, A ppendix A, doc. 191). See also 1987 N ekaneet Claim
Submission, p. 3.
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position that it had been given areserve near Maple Creek in 1881 by Canada.®® In any event, the
First Nation received no annuity payments between 1882 and 1975.

From 1882 to 1913, Canadadenied that areserve had been set aside for the Nekaneet First
Nation, or otherwisefor Foremost Man' sfollowers and descendants?” The First Nation citesIndian
Affairs correspondence to the effect that during this time period Canada was aware of a separate
band that had not been allocated lands.”® In 1913, Canada set aside a reserve of 1440 acres for the
“band of Indians living in the vicinity of Maple Creek, in the Province of Saskatchewan.”?

That same year, the Chief Inspector of Indian Agenciesrecommended that afarm instructor
be placed on the Maple Creek Reserve, for the purpose of encouraging the cultivation of land “for
gardens and small oat fields.”*® That recommendation was rejected, however. The Chief Inspector
continued to ask for afarming instructor, and in 1914 Canada authorized an expenditure of funds
to fence the reserve®

Significantly, for the purposes of thisclaim, it appearsthat three requestsfor assistancewere
made by theFirst Nation. In 1961, arequest was made for horses, as discussed below ** In 1914, two
written requestswere made by the Band for unspecified assistance. Thefirst wasaletter from aBand
representative requesting that Canada dispatch someone “to look into the conditions of our little

Reserve. .. aswefind it hard to make aliving under present conditions, asthereisvery little work

% Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 4-5; 1987 Nekaneet Clam Submisson, pp. 3-4.

z Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 5.

3 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, pp. 5-6.

® DIAND file 675/30-14-15-160A; Order in Council PC 2004, Augug 2, 1913 (Specific Claims
Branch Report, attached doc. 4).

30 National A rchives of Canada (hereafter NA ), RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, Glen Campbell to
Duncan C. Scott, December 9, 1913 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 5).

3 Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 5.

32 NA, RG 10, vol. 8829, file 675/15-8, pt. 4, Charles Oak es to Department of Indian Affairs,
September 7, 1961 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 61). See discussion below, page 11.
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going on at present — and would like the Government to assist us.”* On visiting the reserve, the
I nspector of Indian Agenciesreported that assistanceshould not be granted “intheway of rations.”**
In hisreport, he further cautioned against attempts “to start these few Indiansfarming,” since“their
land isnot adapted for it and it isnot inafarming district.” Hewent on to state: “[ T]he Indians know
nothing about farming and will never learn. They can grow a few potatoes every year, but thisis
al... .l saw asmall patch of potatoes, poorly put in, and | doubt if they will get anything fromiit.”®
Thelnspector’ seditorial comments notwithstanding, thisreport provides evidencethat somefarming
was taking place on the reserve.

The second request for “some assistance” in 1914 came from amember of the Maple Creek
Band, on the basis that they were “ absolutely destitute.”*® The | etter went on to describe the state of

their farming &forts:

In this district this year there was atotal failur[e] of crop and it was impossible for
usto obtain anything from our land to sustain usthisyear and it isin consequence of
[this] total failure of the crop that it has [compelled] us to apply to the government
for assistance.”’

On visiting the reserve, the Inspector arranged for the provision of rations for a dozen “old and
infirm” members of the Band, and recommended that the Band be rel ocated to “ one of the existing

reserveswhere thereis established management.”* I n hisreport, however, the Inspector determined

s NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file27140, Crooked Legsto Minister of the Interior, May 29, 1914
(Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 10).

34 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, W.M . Graham to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs,
June 20, 1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 149).

s NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, W.M . Graham to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs,
June 20, 1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 149).

36 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file27140, Stoney Indian to Department of Indian Affairs, October 24,
1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 151).

s7 NA, RG 10, vol 7779, file 27140, Soney Indian to Department of Indian Affairs October 24,
1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 151).

%8 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, W.M . Graham to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs,
November 19, 1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 153).
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that “thereisamarket for wood, picketsand hay and | understand they have about twenty-five loads
of the latter for sale.”* The Band refused to move.

Reportsfrom Canada continued to recommendtherel ocation of the Band through tothemid-
1950s, with the Band always refusing to move. The view of the depatment appears to have been
based, rightly or wrongly, on the conclusion that the reserve was made up of lands unsuited for
agricultural development.”® For instance, in 1944, the department was advised that the Band had
broken 15 acres of reserveland, and that there was nat enough hay to feed the Band s own horses*
Another 1944 report indicated that the Band “showed a certain amount of initiative, they have
worked out, generallywell, in such work as Haying and harvest, repairingfencesetc., and they have
rented small parcels of land on shares near the Reserve to try and get their feed and some crop.”*

In 1955, the Assistant Regional Supervisor of Indian Agencies, J.T. Warden, recommended
that land adjacent to the reserve be purchased, asthe existing reservewaswell suited for pasture, and
the proposed additional lands produced good crops of hay and coarse grains.*® After further study
and investigation, additional |ands were set aside for the reserve in 1958 and funding was approved
for the provision of farming equipment and livestock.*

The scant evidence available indicates that the Band successfully raised cattlein the ensuing
decades. In 1961 the Band requested horses, pursuant to itsunderstanding that Treaty 4 provided this
benefit.”® At the time, Canada expressed the view that Treaty 4 did not entitle the Band to asupply

» NA, RG 10, vol 7779, file 27140, W .M. Graham to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs,
November 19, 1914 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 153).

4 Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 5-9.

4 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file27140, M. Christianson to Indian AffairsBranch, May 3, 1944
(Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 149).

a2 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, Sgt. Fleming to M. Christianson, July 14, 1944 (Specific Claims
Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 180).

s DIAND, J.T. Warden to Indian Affairs Branch, Reserves and Trusts Division, September 19, 1955
(Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 40).

“ Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 12-17.

4 NA, RG 10, vol. 8829, file 675/15-8, pt. 4, Charles Oak es to Department of Indian Affairs,
September 7, 1961 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 61).
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of horses,"® but there is no evidence that the request was denied. In 1965, Band members owned 43
head of cattle, which increased to 60 head by 1968.*” However, the Specific Claims Branch Report
concludes that there is no evidence of the Band cultivating lands, nor of the Band receiving the
agricultural equipment as proposed in the mid-1950s.*® It appearsthat the department purchased one
bull for the Band in 1958 and replaced it with another in 1963.%

No evidence was located that the Band ever received hunting and fishing supplies pursuant
to treaty entitlements.® In 1976, Canada denied any entitlement to hunting and fishing supplies to
the Band,” and aslate as 1985 the evidenceindicatesthat the Nekaneet First Nation receivedno such
treaty entitlements.>

In 1975, Canada determined that members of the First Nation were entitled to annuities by
virtue of the fact that treaties had been executed on behalf of their ancestors “ by the Chiefs of the
Bands to which they then belonged.” Further, Canada paid the Band mambers in accordance with
the terms of Treaty 4, on the basis that their reserve was located in territory under that treaty.
According to the Speci fic Claims Branch Report, Canada” subsequently” determined that the Band
was entitled to Treaty 4 benefits, subject to the treaty’ s terms.*

46 NA, RG 10, vol. 8829, file 675/15-8, M.G. Jutras to Regional Supervisor, Saskatchewan, October
18, 1961 (Specific Claims B ranch Report, attached doc. 62); NA, RG 10, vol. 8829, file 675/15-8, R.F. Battle to
Superintendent, File Hills-Qu’ Appelle Agency, September 15, 1961 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc.
63).

4 DIAND file 675/23-12, vol. 2,“Annual Inventory of Livestock — Y ear-end-Inventory as at
December 31, [1965]" (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 65; DIAND file 675/15-8, vol.5,
“Project/Design Authority — 1969-70" (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 66).

8 Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 15.

4 NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file27140, M.G. Jutras to Regional Supervisor, Saskatchewvan, March 21,
1961 (Specific Claims Branch Report, attached doc. 59); NA, RG 10, vol. 7779, file 27140, H.A. M atthews to
Regional Supervisor, Saskatchewan, July 9, 1963 (Specific Claims B ranch Report, Appendix A, doc. 64).

% Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 15.

51 DIAND file 675/28-3, vol. 8, Director General, Operations to D istinct Manager, Touchwood File
Hills-Qu’ Appelle District, June 11, 1976 (Specific Claims Branch Report, Appendix A, doc. 72).

52 Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 19.

53 DIAND file E4058-3,vol. 1, J.R. Wright to David Lee, December 3, 1981 (Specific Clams
Branch Report, attached doc. 3).
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This summary reflects the evidence available to date. The Specific Claims Branch Report
advises that the evidence available was often incomplete, in part because of DIAND’s own

practices.>

First Nation’s Submissions

1987 Nekaneet Claim Submission
The 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submission> sought compensation for Canada’ sallegedfailureto provide
the following: “farm implements, equipment and suppliers|[sic] to the band”; “program and other
funding to the band”; and “ annual paymentsto members of the band.” In addition, the Band sought
damages* resulting fromthe Crown’ sfailureto establish areserve for members of the band between
the signing of Treaty No. 4 and 1913, when landswere first set goart for the use and benefit of the
band members.”*

The submission refersto facts covering the period from 1874 to the time of its writing in
1987. The evidence cited “relied extensively upon research previously done induding a report
prepared by Dr John L. Tobias for the Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nations.”*” The First
Nation notes that independent verification of that research was not feasible, but that it believesthat
the information is accurate. Accordingly, the secondary sources cited in the report are not attached
asevidence. Instead, references are made tooriginal sthat may be dotained from “ archival materials
of Canada in Ottawa.”*® Such references date from 1874 to 1957. The only reference to events

subsequent to 1987 is the submission’s final statement in the section entitled Historical Facts:

% Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 1: “[T]he study was hampered by a lack of extensive

documentation concerning the Band’ s activities over the years. Some of this was due to the Band’ s isolation and the
belief among some D epartment officials that the Band was not entitled to treaty benefits. In other cases,
Departmental files that potentially could have shed light on the Band’s activities have been destroyed.”

% See Appendix A.

% 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 1.

57 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 2.

58 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 2.
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To this day, the band faces enommous problems in attempting to maintain its
members. Therearefew jobsonthereserve. Thelanditself continuesto beincapable
of supporting economic activity to anextent which can benefit more than avery few
band members. The vast majority of band members seeking employment are forced
tolook off thereserve. The situation can only improveif the band obtainsland which
can be used as a basis for farming, ranching or other enterprises.®

Theremainder of the First Nation’ ssubmissionson historical factsgenerally antidpatethe evidence
cited in the Specific Claims Branch Report.

The Band submits that an “outstanding ‘lawful obligation™ arises from the non-fulfilment
of Treaty 4 and the breach of the Indian Act, pursuant to Canada’'s Specific Claims Policy. The
submission asserts that entitlement to benefits under Treaty 4 isborne out by both the evidence and
Canada’ sown conduct, including the payment of annuitiesin 1881 and 1882 to Foremost Manand
his followers, and the establishment of areserve in 1913. The Band further submits that DIAND
“has, since 1968, recognized the band as a separateband,” and | ater states that economic payments
“were resumed in 1968.” % The latter statement of fact is not referred to in the submission’s own
section on Historical Facts; nor doesit appear in the body of the submission. Nor does the Specific
Claims Branch Report indicate any evidence supporting this particular fact.

The First Nation goes on to make submissions respecting the Crown’ sfiduciary duty to the
claimants, citing Guerin v. The Queen in support.®* The 1987 submission gates that the duty was
recognized by the Crown in its rendering of economic benefits, however sporadic; by its attempts
to relocate the First Nation throughout this century; and by its establishment of the reserve near
Maple Creek. The Crown’ sbreach of thisfiduciary dutyis*clear from areview of the history of the
band,” and further arises from “the total abdication of the Department’s responsibility” to the First

59 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 9.

& 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submisson, p. 11.

6l Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 11-12. Note that, at the time of its writing, Guerin v. The

Queen, [1984] 2 SCR 355, was the leading case on point.
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Nation.®® The 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submission states repeatedly that for many years Canada has
been aware of the nature and extent of the First Nation’s claim.®®

The 1987 Nekaneet Claim Submission seeks the validation of the claim “as quickly as
possible.” The compensation sought isdescribed only as* substantial,” and it isconceded that “ some
additional work will be required prior to presenting a full and detailed claim for compensation.”
Further, the First Nation seeks “funding to more accurately determine the extent of the
compensation.” The authors and their counsel express their willingness to meet with DIAND
officialsand to assist in any further research required to move the process forward, for which an

“early response” is requested.®*

1996 Band Council Resolution
The Nekaneet Frst Nation passed a Band Council Resolution on August 29, 1996, requesting that
theIndian Claims Commission conduct aninquiry intoits 1987 claim, and authorizing thedisclosure
of relevant reports to the Commission.®® The resolution attaches the 1987 Nekaneet Claim
Submission. The resolution’s preambl e states that “the claim has never formally been rejected or
accepted by Canada for negotiation although there has been some indication from Departmental

officials that Canada believes the scope of the claim is outside of the Specific Claims Policy.”

1998 SpeciFic CLAIMS BRANCH REPORT
The March 1998 report prepared by TeresaHomik for the Specific Claims Branch on the Nekaneet

claim includes thefollowing observations and conclusions:

[T]heevidencedoesnot indicatethat the Band madeany clear unequivocal “ election”
or statement that they intended to take upagriculture. . . . The evidence doesindicate,
however, that the Band did cultivate gardens as early as 1914 . . .

62 Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 12-13.

& Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 2, 14.

Specific Claims Branch Report, p. 14.

& Nekaneet First Nation, Band Council Resolution, August 29, 1996.
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The evidence of agricultural activity on the Reservein the 1950'sisfar less
equivocal.. . . [H]owever, no evidencewas | ocated that would indicate that the Band
received implements or agricultural supplies, other than the bulls discussed above.
It also appearstha they did not receive treaty hunting and fishing supplies, dueto the
belief on the part of the Department officials tha they were not entitled to those
benefits. . . .

Inconclusion, therefore, it may be observed that thereexistsno clear evidence
that the Band ever articul ated an intention to cultivate or made an expressrequest for
farming supplies, other than a 1961 request for horses pursuant to a belief that
Treaty 4 provided thisbenefit. The evidence does not clearly establish that the above
request was denied, but it isclear that Departmental officials felt that there was no
treaty obligation to provide horses. . . .

It may also be observed that the Band actually carried on certan agricultural
activities, albeit in aprimitiveway, begnning in 1914. These activities ranged from
gardens, which apparently failed to the cultivation of feed and forage crops for
horses, and culminated in a small scde cattle raisingin the 1960’ s

&6 Specific Claims Branch Report, pp. 20-21.



PART 111

ISSUES

The Nekaneet claim to the Minister raisesissues of whether, under Treaty 4, there was an existing
and outstanding lawful obligation onthe part of Canadato provideagricultural, economic, and other
benefitsto the FirstNation. Asstated in the 1987 claimssubmission, the Nekaneet First Nation seeks
compensation for Canada’ salleged failureto providefarm implementsand equi pment, program and
other funding, and annuities. The Nekaneet aso seek damages resulting from the federa
government’s failure to establish a reserve until 1913. These issues hinge on the questions of
historical fact just discussed. Did the Nekaneet First Nation exist as a Band separate from the
Kahkewistahaw in 1874, therefore entitling the Nekaneet to treaty land and other benefits? Did the
Nekaneet take up agriculture, therefore entitling them to treaty agricutural benefits?



PART IV

SUBMISSIONS

Asdiscussed previoudly, the partiesinitially disagreed asto whether the Commission wasauthorized
to conduct an inquiry. The gquestion was whether the First Nation’s claim had been rejected by the
Minister. In 1996, the claimant asked the Commission to conclude that DIAND’s conduct in the
almost 10 years sincethe First Nation submitted its claim was tantamount to arejection.®” DIAND’ s
preliminary position was that a lawful obligation did not arise out of the claim, subject to the
following finding, as stated in itsletter of August 1, 1997:

However, with respect to the First Nation’ s allegation that Canada was obligated to
providethe First Nation with farming and agricultural implements, it isour position
that the Nekaneet First Nation may be entitled to receive farming implementsif its
members choose to take up the pursuit of cultivating the soil or raising stock on
reserve. Nonetheless, additional research may be required to determine whether or
not the First Nation received this entitlement in the past.®®

DIAND discussed each of the Frst Nation’s claims under the following headings.

FARMING AND AGRICULTURAL IMPLEMENTS

As discussed in DIAND’s letter, Treaties 4 and 6 provide for certain faming and agricultural
implementsto be supplied to First Nations for purposes of self-sufficiency. Thearticles, machines,
and cattle referred to in the treatieswere to be given “ once and for al, for the encouragement of the
practice of agriculture among the Indians.” The treatiesstipulate that the quantity of the equipment
provided isdetermined on aper family basis, if the family chose an agricultural way of life. Thatis,
Treaty 4 states that the items are to be supplied to any Treaty 4 First Nation:

who are now actually cultivating the s0il, or who shall hereafter settle on their
reserves and commence tobreak up theland, that isto say: two hoes, one spade, one
scythe and one axe for every family so actually cultivating, and enough seed wheat,
barl ey, oats and potatoes to plant such land as they have broken up; also one plough

&7 See page 15 for a discussion of the 1996 Band Council Resolution.

68 Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First

Nation, August 1, 1997.
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and two harrows for every ten families so cultivating as aforesaid, and also to each
Chief for the use of his band as aforesaid, one yoke of oxen, onebull, four cows, a
chest of ordinary carpenter’s tools, five hand saws, five augers, one cross-cut saw,
one pit-saw, the necessary files and one grindstone®

DIAND then described the prerequisiteelementsfor receipt of farmingand agricultural implements
asfollows: “ 1. The band must elect areserve; and 2. The band must elect a) to cultivate their soil or
b) to raise stock.”

DIAND denied that there was an outstanding lawful obligation to provide the farming and
agricultural entitlements until such time as “the First Nation chooses, after reserve land has been
selected, to take up the pursut of cultivated thesoil or raising stock.” On request and receipt of such
implements, the obligation will be fulfilled.”

According to DIAND, there remained a question of fact that required “additional research
to determine whether the First Nation received this ertitlement in the pad.” If the 1987 claim
constituted an election or request for the implements, then these entitlements would be provided
“based on the number of families who state their intention to cultivate the soil and raise cattle on
reserve.””? According to DIAND, the First Nation could instead elect to “continue the traditional

activities of hunting and fishing,” in which case it would be entitled to ammunition and twine.”®

69 “The Qu’Appelle Treaty, Number Four,” September 15, 1874, reprinted in A. Morris, The Treaties

of Canada with the Indians (1880; reprint, Toronto: Coles, 1979), 330-35, cited in Specific Claims B ranch Report.
Emphasis added.

0 Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997.

n Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997, p. 3.

” Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997, p. 3.

n Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997, p. 3.



20 Indian Claims Commission

PROGRAMSAND OTHER FUNDING
DIAND asserted that there was no outstanding lawful obligation to DIAND programs and services
as there was no evidence provided to DIAND indicating “what, if any program and services it

applied for, and whether [or] not it has ever been denied accessto any such programs or services.” ™

ANNUAL PAYMENTSTO MEMBERS
Astheright to annuity paymentsis personal, DIAND stated that the Specific Claims Policy did not
entitleFirst Nationsto advance claimson behalf of itsmembers. “ Any outstanding annuity payments
that can be recovered by living members of the First Nation, must be recovered by these members
directly.” Toinitiate that process, DIAND provided information for contacting the relevant officid.
A separate official was identified for the purposes of bringing a claim for treaty annuities for
deceased band members.”

In sum, on August 1, 1997, Canada denied that there was an outstanding lawful obligation,
but raised the possibility that agricultural entitiements may be outstanding, subject to further
research. As discussed previously, research was provided by DIAND on March 27, 1998."°

CANADA’SOFFER TONEGOTIATE A SETTLEMENT

On October 23, 1998, Canadaoffered to accept theFirst Nation’ sclaimto agricultural benefitsunder
Treaty 4 for negotiation of asettlement; aswell, Canada offered to negotiate ammunition and twine
benefits.”” According to Canada, this was the first agricultural benefits claim Canada had ever
accepted under Treaty 4, and thefirst historical claim for agriculturd benefits accepted by Canada.”™

Asa result, the Commi ss on has suspended this inquiry.

I Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First

Nation, August 1, 1997, p. 3.

I8 Michael Roy, Director General, Specific Claims, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, August 1, 1997, p. 4.

s Specific Claims Branch Report. See above, page 1ff.

I Warren Johnson, Assistant Deputy M inister, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, October 23, 1998 (Appendix B).

I Warren Johnston, Assistant Deputy M inister, DIAND, to Chief Larry Oakes, Nekaneet First
Nation, October 23, 1998 (A ppendix B).



PART V

CONCLUSION

Since, at the date of thisreport, the Minister has agreed to negotiate the claim, the Commission has
suspended its inquiry. We make no findings of fact or any comment on the merits of the First
Nation’s claim for economic benefits under Treaty 4. Thisreport has set out the background to the
First Nation’ s claim, based on documentsthe FHrst Nation provided, and Canada s response thereto.
In making this report, we wish again to affirm that it is essential that procedural and systematic
issuesinthe specific claimsprocessnot beallowed tofrustratethetimely determination of individual
claims, or the timely negotiation and settlement of those claims that have been accepted by Canada
for negotiation. Just as fairness was the criterion governing the decision to conduct a Commission
inquiry into the First Nation’s claim, sofairness to the parties must be the criterion that guides the

conduct of both sides in seeking theresolution of a First Nation’s claim.

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

P.E. James Prentice, QC Roger J. Augustine
Commission Co-Chair Commissioner

Dated this 17th day of March, 1999.
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CLAIM OF HIFANEET BAND MO, 1G0A

INTRODUCTION

This szubmissicn Ls 2 swmmary of the claim of the Wikaneot
Ipdian Dand Mo, LGLR arising out of the Government of Canada's
failure te provide funding toe the band and hand members during a
paricd extending from LEE3 wvntil 1948, The =ubmission is made to
the HMinister upder %the government policy entitied “Qutstanding
Pusiness, a HNative Claims Poliey.”

Toe wand seeks 2z recognition of the valildity af lts claim
toegether with compensaticon for lefses and damages sustained. The
glaim is made on bthe basis of a failure on Lhe part of Canada to
honour the termz= of Treaty Weo. 4 and on the pasis of Canada’s
failure to provide benefits to the band under the terms of the
Indian Act as well as oan the basis of a breach of the Juty owed
by the Crown fo the band and its membezs.

Compensation is sought for Canada's £ailure to providse the
following:

Ji the failpre o provide farm implements, egquippent and
suppliezs t¢ the band,

z. the failure to provide I‘~p.1:-..c:.--:_:;n:'zurl. and other funding o the
band, andg

3. the failure to provide anpual payments to nembers of the
bend.

The ©laim alse ineludes a claim for damages resulting from
the Crowa's failure to establish 2 ressrve for the members of the
hand between the signing of Treaty Mo, 4 and 1913, when lands

wore first set apart for the use and henefit of pand members.
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The federal government 15 aware of many aspects <f the
within claim since consideraticn of the historical material was
given prier to validation of the band's entitlement claim.

In preparing this submission references are included in the
foctnotes to histerical records or documents. The originalsz of
Lhis documentation are found in the archival mateérials of Canada
in Ottawa. Footnpte references which are conkbained in this
submission have relied extensively upon research preoviously deone
including a zegort prepared by Dr. John L. Tobias [or the
Federation of S&skatchewan Indian Haticns. The claimant=s beliewe
that the footnote references are aocorate ot have not had the

financial resoukces to verify such footnotes in all cases.
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I

HISTORYCAT. FACTS

The fasts, which the band spbmits are relevant to the olain,

are brisfly summarized a2z follows:

L.

Rad

The Hikaneet Pand {as it is now known) jeined Treaty No. 4
in- 1874 under the leadership of Frontman or Foremoss Map, L.
Although some of the iateérnal documentation of “he
Department 2f Indien affairse and Worthern Development {the
Department) suggesis that Poremest Man was assoolited with
the Hakuwistcahaw Band, the band's view iz that Foremast Man
was tho leader of a separate band. 2 the time of =signing
of Treaty #o. 4 Foramost Man was ot in Qu'bhppoelle but was
in the west in the area arouni Cypress Eills,
Under the terms of Trepty No. 4, Indizpns were oromised
annual cash payoents in the following texns:
"As soonr A% possible after the executicon ©f this Treaty,
Her Majesty shall cause a census 4o be taken of all
Indiang inhabiting the tract hergeinbefore described,
and ghall, next yearx, and annually afterwards for ewer,
caurse to be paid.in sash at some suitable seazson Lo be
duly nokilied for that purpose, within the territory
caded, cach Chief 325.00; sach hegadmen not exceeding
four te & band, $15.06w and to every othexr Indian man,
women 4nd child, $5.00 per head; such payvment Lo bhe
mafde 4o the heads of families f£or those belonoging
theretg, unless for some special reaszon it be fopnd
cbjectionable ™
The Treaty 4lszo inclvded terms for the proviszion of farm
implements, eguipment: and other sapplies. i
Tt is clegr from records &t the Department that Treaty
payments were made to Foxemost Man's band in 18BL and in
1882, According to the Departnent's records the annuity pay

List feor LEEL shoWwed a band consisting ©f 428 persocns



Nekaneet First Nation Inquiry Report

27

receiving pavments. In 1882, the pay list zghowed 300
persons as having been paid. 2
After 1EEZ2, anpual paymants Were not mage by the Department
unkil they wWere resumed in 196%,

Following 1882, wvaripus reasons were advancesd by the
Department for not making pﬁymﬂntz. Howevar, theze reasons
appear to relate either to the expense of adwinistering a
single reserve in the area or the view af socme that the
presence of +the band in  the Cypress Hills neexr  the
Canada/United States border wight ecause an international

incident. 4

=1

£ im elear from the DepAartment records that Foremost  Man
had been promised a reserve in 1881 and in L8B4 still was
purseing his selection.

Promises were made to establish a resexwve if the band moved
north and pressure was put on  the band, particularly
following the Kiel rebellion in LEEG. It is apparent that
Commissioner Dewdney was of the view that the band should be
of fered a reservs néaﬂ_Last Mounktain, Cowmission Dawdney
was not successful in cbtaining agrecment from the band on
the tTelocatirn &and wWas not anthorized +to carrxy out his
alteraate plan of jailing the Chief in an attempt to force
the band to move. ~°

It is ﬁppurcnt that the band remained as a wunit, their
numbers in fact increasing by £he addition of other Indians
dissatisfied with 4L£heir Chiefs ar roservos, This larger

group appears te have divided into two with one group
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10,

cantered arcund Medicine Hat. The gsocond groun howaver

recained with Foremost Man ib the Moaple Creek area. T

It is5 c¢lear Erom the Department's £iles that the lzcal

population around Maple Creek regarded Foremost Man's baod
a5 an Indizn band. f: In Febrvary, 1896, a4 petitign was
forwarded to the Minister of the Intcrior asking that the

band he given a reserve in the Cypress Hills promized to it
in 1881, *-
In 1906 the Indian Commissioner, [David Laird, suggested the

establishment of & resarcve near the Mownted Folice barxracks

lo.

in the Cypress Eills, The Repartment however £oliowed

the wrecommendation of Agency Inspector Campbell +to  the
effect that so long as the pand rampined inceffensive to the

settlers and ne complaints were heard, no action should be

taken. 1.

Frank Pedley, then the Dopubty Superintendent Gencral of
Ingian Affairs, in a lebter te ®William Graham, Inspector of
Indlian dgencies in the regicd, asknodledsed that there were
menbers of the kLand who had nat been allocated landa. This
carrespondence reads, in Parét az follows:

"...these appear to he of two classes, vis, soeme who
bkelong o bkands for whom reszerves had been provided in
the pzst, but have refused to live thereon, and sono
for whom ne such provision has besn made.®

"...¥With regard to the Stragglers £or whom lands have
not besn already provided, and the others if it should
be deemed adwisakle to lat thewm all keep together, the
question prescents iteelf as te whare and what guantity
langs should ke allocated to them, and this would seep
to depend largely upon the mezns hy which they oropose
to earn their maintenance in the event of their being
willing 40 take up agriculture, etc. The further
guesticn a&rises oS bt whether they would regquire a
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iz,

13,

14,

15.

farming instructer and what assistasce in the form of
rations, implements, etc., ebc. would be necessary. Of

COT S the fﬂmbers in each class hawve to be
ascertained. ™ :

It is submitted that this correspondence establishes clesrly
that the Deparftment was aware and reccgnized there was &
separate band which had noit bkeen allocated lands. The
correspondence  also  glearly estaklisped the fact  that
farming egquipment and implements promised under the Treaty
had not been provided.

on eEungust 2, 1913, an Order in Council was paszed sckiing
aside Sectiens 24, 25 and a portien of Secktion 26 In
Township %, Range 25, W 3rd Meridian, fozr the Maple Creck
Band. This action wes taken in spite of the objection oF
Inspector Graham who contined in his efforts ta have the
hand moves north. 1d
Prom abount 1925 until 1968, it appears that the Repartment
simply took the view that the people on the Maple Creek Band
were not Treaty Indians and refﬁsed on that basis Lo provids
aseistance. 14, The hasis for thise new view by the
Department appezrs to defyﬁbcth historical fact and leogic.
Betwemn 1925 and 1944 little was done for the bkand. In that
year the Superintendent of Indian Ageneies, & Mr.
Christiansen and BSergeent Fleming of ithe Royal Canadian
Kounted Police began efforts bo acqguire additisnal land for

L5,

the band. Their efforts were howeaver unsuccessiul.

Bedianing in 195%, Department officials and 2 local wmemkex

of Parliament, Irvin Studex, again reguested that additional

16,

lands he provided o the bpand, Thiz resualted in the
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le,

17,

LE.

additioen of same lands by Order in Council passed en
Januery 10, 1558. L7
In the 13605, the Department again reviewed the history of
the band and properly conciluded that Lhe Nikancet Band were
Treaty Indians. In 1568 band mambers hegan to receive
annuity payments.

Given the Departments refusal to maintain pay lists since
1852, ascurate estimates of the hand's populaticon througiout
the period are Zifficult. It is clear however that from a
high 428 persens in 1831, <the populaticn of ths band
declined. The Department's pay 1listis for 1882 showed 3
sigrificant decline Lo 300 persons. In Cotaoher, 1503,
Inspector Graham reported to Frank Padley that the band
consisted of approximately 23 persons, 40 at Medicine Hat,
A0 camped at Maple Cresk End 1% more travelling. xe the
population in October, 1914, was recorded as being 21
families totalling 81 persons. 13 A populotion figure of

0.

B0 peracns 15 referred to in April, 1315, By 13z the

papelation totalled approximately €0 persons, a number which
app&ars to remain relative:y conztant until about 15944, 21,
gv 1357 the band had increased te 78 persons wWith further
increases by 1363 to a total membership of LO0L individuals
of which 83 were ordiparily resident on the rescerve.

L review of correspondence found in the archiveszs (B.G. 10,

Volume 779, File 27leafl, of the Headguarxter's files,

Dpepartment of Indian Affairs)] confirms that annpity payments
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10,

20,

were not made nor were farm implements or supplics provided
a5 was reguired by Treaty do. 4.

Until the passage of +he Order in Council creating the
reserve in August, 1913, 4he band d4id not appezr Lo receive
any oovernment assistance whatsoever after cessatinmn of the
snnuity payments in LEEZ.

dince the cstablishment of the resexve in 1913, a permanent
population has been mainbained. The reserve itself isg
howsvrer of poor guality and uwnable to sustain the present
band membershic on an economic hasis. A descripti&u.nf the
griginal geserve lands is set ot in correspondence sent by
Sergeant FPleming 1o Superintendent Christianson and in
Chrigtianson's reports to the Department. Excerpts from
that correspondence include the [ollowing commoents:

"R1l af Secticms 24 and 25 and the HE of 26, all in
Township 3, ERange 24, ¥ 3rd Meridian, Bhiz land is
coverad by scrub poplar approximately 25% and has
practically no grazing land therecn, and no hay land
whatzoorer. It has one good spring in the southwest
corner of the scuthwest gquerter of Section 24, which is
located in the ' southwest corber of the reservation
proper. The land is on the north slope of Lhe Oypress
Bench, is extremely rough, and rocky, and even if
clearad iz not £it for agriculture, It is located
between two portions of the east block of the Forestry
Eeserve - (#ireh Creck Ranger Statien) apd iz only
suitable for growing besh.®

"Thiz band nas 0o ocattle whatscever, Ifor different
reasons, thede bedng that they have ne rangs for them,
&lse no hay land on which te put up feed for them, also
that +he reservatien is sueh that they could not live
cn it the wyear round, hevieg o go out to work to
obhtain a 1living, therefore +the zsteock could have
practically no attention.™

"I do not know who picked it cut kbut I dc know if they
had locked all over wostern Canada they could not have

found poorer land for & reserve than these Indians
have. "



32

Indian Claims Commission

a1,

22,

23.

"The whole reservation as it now stands would no more
than keep the ordinary white family vet we hawe slxty
Indians trying to eke ¢ut an existence oo ik, ™ ;

In 1357, Regicnal Superviscr Jones wriote te Lhe Department
in the following Lerms:

"...It iz physically impeoesikle for this bapd  of
Indians, nmbaring 78, te even exist on their present
reserve of 1,440 acres comprised for the most part of
barren hills, recks and coolies, which affords little

more sustenznce than is reguized t0 graze o mere
handful of livestock.® :

...t the present time, this bapd of Indians have
nothing axcgﬁ$. an abpve=averade amovnt of intestinal
fortitude. " ;

The fact theat the band suflfered extrems hardship in
abtaining aceess to facilities off the reserve is also
avident in this report where i1t iz noted that it was not

until 1955 ¢hat the children of band nembers were admitied

o local scheoks.

To this day, 't:h:& band faces encormous problems in attembting
£o maintain its members. There are few jebs on the reserve.
The land itself continues t& be incapable of supporting
gconomic activity to an axtESE which can bencfit more than a
very few oand members. The vast majority of band members
secking employmant are foreed to lock off the reserve. The
sitution can only improve if the band obtains land which san
e used as & basis fer farming, ranching or eother

gntercrises,
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IT  BAND'S POSITION

Under the terms of the Native Claims Poliey Canada has
reécognized “outstanding business batween Indians and government
which for the sake of justice, equity and orosperiby now must he
gettiad withouf further delay.” Included within the poliecy wnéer
the heading "Lawful Obligation" is the Tollowing:

"The government's policy on specific glaims is that it will
recognize  claims by Indian  bands wilch . disclose an
outstanding "lawful obligaticen,” i.e. an abligaticon derived

from the law on the pa=2 of the federzl government,

Lawful ecbligation may arise in any of the Lollowing
circumstances:

[ 1} The non=fuifillment of a Treaty or agrzeement between
Indians and the Crown.

{1i) The breach of an obligatien arising out of the Indian
Aot or olther statutes pertaining to Indians and the
regulations thereonder.® {page 200
It is the kand's view that its claim may ke supported under
both of the foregaing heads.

In addition, since adopticn of the Hative Claims Polioy, the

Supreme Court of Canada in decision of Guerin w. llex Majesty the

pucen hes reccgnized that the Crown owes a fiduciazy or trust
obligation te Indians and Indian bands., It is the band's view
that the circumstances of this case disclose & breach of that
guty, be it antogorized as a Eiduciaxy duty or trust phligation
tewards the band and its members.

It should be bevond dispute that the band led by Frontmen or
Foremost Man was entitled te the banefits of Treaty Ho. d. The

Department acknowledged his and the band's status following the
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signing of Treaty He. 4 by making annuity payments in 128) and
Lagz,

The Department's conduet following thal year cannot change
the nature of its ghligaticns. In fact, the reasons suggested by
the Department over the years to justify its treatment of the
band cannoct be supported.

A further recoagpition of Lhe kang as a bkand entitled to
benefits under beth Treaty Ho. 4 and under the terms of zhe
Indian ket iz found in the establisheent of the reserve by Order
in Ceuncil in 1913, Having established the reserve 1t is
difficult to understend the denial of further beneFits te the
band aund its motsbers.

The Depazztment in the 19605 conducted & review of its
records and has, since 134E, recognized the band as & separate
bBand.

It iz bevond guestion that the band was entitled &0 recocive
benefits dus toc a band undar the Treaty and the Indian kot for
the peried from 1882 until payments were cesumed in 1968,

dn the basiz of the Eacts putlined hersin and other
doguncntation within the ﬁcpartmﬁnﬁ's records, there would appear
to be little guestion as to the validity of the band's claim and
a2 to its right to receive compensaticn.

With respect to the band's claim based upon elther breach of
tru=st or breach ¢f tha Crown's fiduciary okligation, the Supreme
Couzt of Capada in the Guerin decision has clearly held that in a
legal sense the Crown may be held liable fox damages should it

brexch the duty owed to the Indisn pecple of Canada. In this

Indian Claims Commission
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inzstanca, whether the abligation ke categorized z2s one of &
fiduciary okligation or one of Erust, the actiong of the Cxown
towards the band and its members would clearly suggest a Dxeach
of the ooligation,

The Crown ibitially recogrnized its daty towards the band by
Making Treaty pavments. Suhsequaont rTecognition cf $he band's
Status con be fompd in the rTepealted atoelpis aver pericds in
meomss of forty¥ ¥esars b have the »and relocated.  Finally, even
after establishoment of thé Icserve near Maple Creek, it appearxs
that tho Depertment 4reated the band ancd its members oz if they
were not Treaty Indians for a paried in excess of forty years.
Tne notions of the Department fowayds the band can best be
summariged im the languags adopted by Ddxpm, J. (as he thea was)
in the Guerin decizicon where he descrilbaed the actions of the
Crown towards the Musgueam Indian Band as being whconsciconable in
nature.

While the Guerin dsecision is.gne dealing with a surrender of
lands, ¢he reasoning appolisd fo that case can, npoo=sthelesse, he
applied to the Hikansot Banﬁ'ﬂ clﬁim. Under Treaty Mo. &, the
hand gave uwp its claim to largs tracts of larnd in return fox
certain promises, It is clesr from a review of the histary of
the band that the govermment [(for reasoens which suited Ltselif)
did not felfill the terms ol the Treaty.

Further, the scheme set foreh in the Indian Act places the
Credn in a pre-eninent position to controel the lives of Indians,

their reserves, thelr property and thelr Cconmerce. ¥Wnile the

precize nature of the obligatiog of {he Crown under the Indian
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act might be debated, the total abdication of the Department's
responsibility as in this ecase must rfesult in the validalbicn of
the band's c¢laim if the Wative €laims Policy is to have any

meaniag at ail,
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L1 CONCLUSTIONS

Ik is submitted that the claim of the Nikaneet Band Wo. L6dA
is alearly ootlined in this submission and in material in the
poszession of Lhe Department. The Department has been aware of
the natore and extent of the band's claim for many years.

The band therafeore askzs that the Minister tzke shteps to
walidzte its claim as guickly as peossible.  Although the band
believes that the walue of its claim is  substantial, it
recognizes that some additional work will be reguired prior to
presenting a fuoll and deipiled claim for compensaticen. The band
would as@ that uwpon validation of the claim, access be granted
for fundincg to more accurately determine the extent of the
compengation which should be nﬂg;tiatad‘

The band and its soliciters, Messrs., Olive, Waller, Zinkhan
& Waller, are prepared to meet you and your cofficials at your
convenience and 4o assist in any further research which may he
required in order te wvalidate the claim. &n early response in
this regard would be appreciated.

211 of which is respectfolly submitted on behalf of the band
thisz _ __ day of Februory, A.D. 1387,

HIFANEET BANE WO. 14605

Par:

Chielf Gordon Dakos
Par:

John Oakesz, Councllloxr
Per:

Larzy Oakes, Councillor
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FROTHOTE REFERERCES

Treaty Wo., 4. dated Septemker 15, 1874, approved Hovembor 4,
La7s, F.C. Mo, 13z4: IANT Fablication M,
=05-0572-000=ER-A=]1,

Ined, See alse Memorandum signed by A, MacKenzie seeking
Privwy Covncll aporoval of the Treaty; Iand Publication Mo,
=05-0572-000-EE-2A-1,

Departmental Annuity Pay Lists for 1881 and 1882 recording
paymants made &t Fort Walsh entitled "rForemest Man Band® and
"Front Man's Band.™

P.G. 140, Wol. 2652, Files a3585%-1 & 2, Wol., 36%Ll, File l3#di,

Ottawe, Pukilic Archives, PFeoerd Group 20, Indiazn Affairs
Telex, Vol. 3757, File 21,333, letter Allen 1o fAsst.
Commissionsr Galt, Mar., 321, 1B3)l; Pile 2313287, lotter Alien
to Dewdpey, July 5, LE81, letter Dewdney £o Superintendent.
General of Indiapn Affairs, Avcgust 18, L1883, letter -~
Inspector Wadsworth to Dewdney August 14, L1EEZL, letter -
Zol. Irvin to Comm,., August 27, 1EE4,

®.43. 10, Bex 390, 858, File 27140 Dewdney to Superintendent
General, Februans 15, ligg

E.G. 10, WVel. 777%, File 27410, W, G. Graham, inspector of
Indian Agencics toc F. Pedley, Deputy Buperintendent Genecal,
Indian Affalrs, Octcher 3, 1L90&.

See, for examnele, footnote 9, =Eupra, letbers from George
Gunn £o J. A. MocDonald, Februncy 21, 1887, letter fyom o,
J. English, lecal rancher, ko J. F. Sandexrson dated May 18,
1E87; Ppetiticon of J, ¥. Sanderson to the Minister dSated
ey 15, A139T7. Other corcrespohdence 1n ®B.G, 10, Yo., 7774,
File 27410,

Fetition of February 1896 signed by local residents and
presented to the Minister,

B.G. 10, Box 320, 850, File 27140, Compissioner Laige o the
Bec. Deputy O0f Indian Affaivrs, May 3, 1904,

Ibid, Campbell to Deputy Superintendent General, May 14,
1506,

F. Fedley, Deputby Eupﬁfintendent General to W. M. Granam,
Inspector of Indian Agencies. May 7. 190&.

order in Council dated Mmgnst 2, 1313,
The soarce of this view zppears to have hegun with & letter

from Agent Murison to Commiesioner Graham dated Januwary 12,
lszs,
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15,

14.

1T,

15,

139,

20.

21,

27,

23,

24,

= 16 -~

Christianson to Indian Affeirs, June 1lb and August 3, l944;
Sgt. Fleming to Christianson, July 14, 1344,

Sepe , for example, letter from Regional Supervisor to Indian
Affairs, Ottawa dated September 1%, 1955; letter Lrom
superviscr Jeones to Indian Affairs, Ottawa, January 31,
1987,

Order in Council, January L4, 1258,

E.G. 10, Vol. 7779, File 27140, Headguarters File, letter,
inspector . M. Graham o Frank redley, Deputy
Superintendent General Indian Affairs, Octeober 3, 130E.

Iked, letter from "Stopey Indian™ to Devartment of Indian
hEfairs, Ottawa deted Jotcber 23, 1914,

Ihed, letter from P.M.0. Turner, ¥edicine Hat, to Department
of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, Bugust 5, 1915,

Ikbid, letter, W, MeTaggart, H.P., Gull Laka, Sask. to
pepartment of Indian Affairs, hugasht 4, 1824,

Ihid, SBgt. Fleming, HMaple Creek R.C.M.P. Lo Superintencent
Christianson, Eegina, July 14, 1944,

Thid, E. =. Jones, Reg. Superviscr Indian Agoncices Eo Indian
Affairs Branch, Ottawa, January 31, 1957.

Thid, E. 5. Jones, Reg. Supervisor Indian Agencies to Indian
rtffairse Branch, Ottawa, January 3E, 1957.
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APPENDIN B

GOVERMNMENT OF CANADRA'S QFFER TO ACCEPT CLAIM

Ingian ard Moriham Aflaires intiennes
Alfsrs Canadd o1 iy Mord Candds

Asmstant Deputy Monsler  Sous-moaisies adjonl

Cliasa. Cargaa
[ e ot ]

OcT 2 3 1998

Chief Larry Qakes WITHOUT FREJUDICE
Makanest First Nation

P.0. Box h48

MAPLE CREEK Sk 30K 1M0

Dear Chief Oakes:

" On behalf of the Government of Canada and in accordance with the

Specific Claims Policy (S0F), | offer to accept the Mekaneest First Nafion's
(NFN) agrcultural and ammunition and twine benefits claim under
Treaty Mo, 4 for negotiation of a settlement, as set out balow,

Far the purpose of negotiations and within the meaning of the SCP, Canada
agcepts that the NFN has sufficiently established that Canada has a lawful
abligation with respect to the provision of sgticuliural benefits and ammunition
and twine under Treaty Mo, 4.

The setilement of this claim will be done in accordance with Canada's SCP, as
oullined in the baok Ouistanding Business. Any offer of compensation will be
guided by the compensation eriteria outlined in Owestanding Business 53

ol loners:

1} As a general rule, a claimant band shall be compensated for the
Ioge it has incurred and the damages it has suffered as a
conzaquence of the breach by the federal government of its
lawiul obligations. This compensation will ke based on legal
principles; and

I

||"|. ;
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2] Any compensation paid in respect b a claim shall take into -
account any previous expenditure already paid to the
claimant in respect of {he same claim.

The MFH claim is the first agricultural bgnefits claim Canada has accepted
under Treaty Mo, 4, and is the first historical claim for agricullural benedits
accepted by Ganada. In order to better prepare for negotistion, Canada must
canduect further wark on compensation reguirements. We regret this furlher
deday, but hope to be in a position to initizte the negotiation process eariy next
year,

The steps in the negotiation process which will be followed include:
negotiations toward a settlement agreemenl; drafiing of 2 selflement
agraesment; concluding the agreement; ratifying the agreement; and finally,
- implementation of the agreement,

Throughout the clajms process, Canada’s files, including all documents
submitted to Canada conceming the claim, are subject to Attess to
Information and Privacy legislafion in effect.

All negotiations are conductad on a “without prejudice” basis, Canada and the
MFN acknowledge that all communications, whether oral, written, formal or
informal, are made with the intention of encouraging selllermgnt of the dispute
between the parties only, and are not infended to constitute admissions by any

party.

The acceptance of the claim for negatistions is not to be interpreted as an
admission of liability or fact by Canada. In the event that setflement cannol be
reached and lifigation ensues, Canada reserves the right to plead all defences
available ta it, including limitation periods, laches and lack of admissible
evidence.

In the event that & final settlement is reached, the settlement agreement must
contain a release from your First Mation ensuring that this claim cannot be
reopened. As part of the setllement, Canada will also require an indemnity
from wour First Nation,

A3
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it you have any questions ar concams which you wish to raise prior to the

iniliation of negotiations, please contact Anne-Marie Robingon, Director, Policy
and Research at (819) 953-1887.

Yours sincargly,

Wamren Johinson
AfAssistan Deputy Minisiar
Claims and Indian Govamment

c.c.. Thomas YWallar
Jake Tootoosis
Bill Bernhardt
Audrey Stewart



